STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenwood County
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Appellate Case No. 2016-001004

JAN 22 2017

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

Appellant,

vs.

EDWARD DEAN,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit

P. O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29649-0516
(864) 942-8800

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The trial court erred as a matter of law by granting Respondent a new trial when no right of Respondent was violated and the trial court found no discovery violation occurred.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A jury convicted Respondent Dean on March 5, 2014, of First-Degree Burglary, Grand Larceny, and Malicious Injury to Property before the Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr. Respondent Dean filed a motion for new trial. Judge Addy held a hearing on Dean's motion on April 13, 2016. By order dated May 4, 2016, Judge Addy granted Dean a new trial. (Order granting new trial). The State appealed the grant of a new trial on May 10, 2016.

On May 16, 2016, Dean filed a motion to dismiss, claiming the order was not appealable. The State then filed its return to Dean's motion to dismiss on November 22, 2016. No reply to the State's return was filed. This Court denied his motion to dismiss and ordered the parties to proceed with briefing on January 23, 2017. The State's initial brief follows.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Introduction

Respondent Dean was convicted by a jury on March 15, 2014, for the burglary involving the theft of firearms. Judge Addy held a hearing based on Dean's motion for new trial on April 13, 2016. In the motion, Dean alleged the State made an undisclosed plea bargain to testifying co-defendant Gaston. Judge Addy declined to find the State made an undisclosed plea offer, but granted a new trial anyway because he promised Dean he would retain jurisdiction over the disposition of Gaston's charges, yet Gaston pled guilty and was sentenced by another judge.

Pretrial: December 11, 2013 hearing

On December 11, 2013, a pre-trial hearing was held on several matters. During the hearing, Dean's counsel inquired if the prosecution made any deals or offers to co-defendant Gaston. Eighth Circuit Assistant Solicitor Shannon Odom advised that the State made no offers to Gaston. Transcript of December 11 hearing (H. Tr.) pp. 17-19.

Dean's counsel claimed to "have a hard time believing" Gaston's attorney, Stephen Geoly, "would allow him to testify without an assurance of some benefit." H. Tr. pp. 19-20. Dean's counsel alleged that after Dean's trial, if Dean were convicted, "it's going to be the Solicitor's office with arms around Mr. Geoly and Mr. Gaston asking . . . for him to get probation or some other kind of leniency." H. Tr. p. 20, lines 10-17. Then Dean's counsel threatened, "if that were to happen, I mean, we're going to get a transcript and we're going to be back in here and we're going to be saying that we were misled and that the Court was misled." H. Tr. p. 20, lines 17-21.

Although Dean's accusations were unsupported by any evidence, Judge Addy patiently

suggested a “possible resolution” of holding the motion for new trial and sentencing in abeyance pending sentencing for Gaston. “And in that way, if what you’re describing comes to pass, your client could receive a new trial if the representations today should differ from what actually transpires subsequently. That might be a potential way to address the situation. Just thinking out loud.” H. Tr. p. 20, line 25 – p. 21, line 11.

Odom made clear, “I haven’t made an offer. I have not made any agreements with Mr. Geoly or Mr. Gaston.” H. Tr. p. 22, lines 16-18. She reiterated, “I mean, at this point, Mr. Geoly – I don’t know what he’s telling his client. But I have no[t] made any offer to them.” H. Tr. p. 22, lines 20-22. Odom added, “Mr. Gaston, he maybe testifying in hopes that something will happen after it’s all said and done, but I have not offered him anything.” H. Tr. p. 23, lines 4-11. Nevertheless, Dean’s counsel claimed, without proof, that “something happened,” “through body language” or “the wink and the nod” or “something they’ve directly said.” H. Tr. p. 23, lines 12-20. Judge Addy proceeded with the case despite the serious accusations of deceit against the State.

Dean’s jury trial: March 14-15, 2014

Dean was convicted of first-degree burglary for his participation in the burglary of a gun collector’s home. Several guns were stolen, along with other valuables. Law enforcement was unable to recover anyone’s latent prints, and the physical evidence recovered at the burglarized home could not be linked to anyone.

Law enforcement received a tip that stolen guns were stored underneath the duplex where Dean and his mother lived. The search under the duplex yielded two rifles including a .308 rifle. Trial Transcript dated March 14-15, 2014 (Trial Tr.) pp. 135-37; p. 151, lines 5-7. The serial

numbers for the guns came back stolen from Greenwood County. Trial Tr. p. 151. After receiving consent from Dean's mother, law enforcement recovered .308 ammunition and .44 ammunition from Dean's residence. Trial Tr. pp. 150-51.

Subsequently, Adrian Gaston was arrested for a separate burglary. Gaston provided a statement to law enforcement admitting to several burglaries. Although Gaston was not a suspect in the burglary of the gun collector's home, he implicated himself, Edward Dean, and co-defendant Antwan Anderson. Trial Tr. pp. 108-09.

Gaston testified for the State against Dean. He testified Anderson picked Gaston up, and Dean was with them when they burglarized the residence. Gaston acted as a look-out as they stole guns and other items. He assisted breaking into a shed to steal more firearms. Gaston kept one of the weapons, while Dean and Anderson split up the remaining firearms. Trial Tr. pp. 80-86.

On cross-examination, Gaston acknowledged he faced two life sentences and an additional 93 years and 300 days for all his pending charges. Gaston agreed he had a lawyer and was trying to cooperate. He testified he hoped his lawyer would help him get his freedom. Trial Tr. p. 101.

Dean was convicted by the jury of First Degree Burglary, Grand Larceny, and Malicious Injury to Property. Sentencing was deferred at that time and Judge Addy asked to retain jurisdiction over Gaston's charges. Trial Tr. p. 223.

Co-defendant Gaston's guilty plea

Gaston pled guilty to all his Eighth Circuit charges and a Saluda County (Eleventh Circuit) charge on May 14, 2015, in Saluda County before the Honorable Thomas A. Russo, Sr. Assistant Solicitor H. Franklin Young represented the Eleventh Circuit on the second-degree burglary charge

from Saluda County. Assistant Solicitor Lance Sheek, previously uninvolved in the case, appeared on behalf of the Eighth Circuit. Sheek advised Judge Russo that the Eighth Circuit agreed to reduce two first-degree burglary charges to second-degree burglary. Gaston pled guilty to eight second-degree burglary charges from the Eighth Circuit while thirteen attendant charges such as larceny and conspiracy charges were dismissed. Gaston's plea transcript dated May 14, 2015 (G. Tr.) p. 13, lines 13-20; p. 15, lines 8-11. So the agreement reduced Gaston's exposure from two life sentences and three hundred years' imprisonment to eighty years' imprisonment (plus ten more years of exposure for the Saluda County charge). After Judge Russo went over the plea agreement with Gaston, Judge Russo inquired if anyone promised him anything else. Gaston indicated, "No, sir." G. Tr. p. 13, line 22 – p. 14, line 1.

During the rendition of the facts supporting the Saluda County charge, Young noted once Gaston, Antwan Anderson, and two juveniles were apprehended in the vicinity of the Saluda County burglary, Gaston cooperated: "And from that . . . point Mr. Gaston started telling what happened and revealed, I believe, the facts associated with the other cases that are essentially at bar here on Greenwood County and he has, I believe, since that time cooperated extensively." G. Tr. p. 19, lines 15-19.

Geoly's sentencing presentation on behalf of Co-defendant Gaston

Geoly made a compelling presentation to Judge Russo during sentencing. Geoly identified Anderson as the "ringleader" and the older "mastermind," with Gaston "along for the ride." Geoly confided Gaston was "not the sharpest Crayon in the box" and his I.Q. was sufficiently low to receive government assistance. G. Tr. p. 25, lines 4-17.

Geoly noted Gaston did not have a criminal history prior to the string of burglaries. G. Tr. p.

26, lines 6-8. Geoly advised Judge Russo:

[H]e immediately began cooperating with law enforcement. He is kind of the follower, the go-along. I mean, once law enforcement was up with him he was an open book to them. He then told me upon my retention by his grandmother to represent him that he wanted to cooperate with law enforcement. And he did, Judge.

G. Tr. p. 26, lines 8-16. Geoly credited Gaston as “instrumental” in recovering “a lot of” stolen items. G. Tr. p. 26, lines 24-25.

Geoly pointed out to Judge Russo:

I think it is very definitely worth noting that his life was threatened. I think the solicitor can back that up. During the trial, I think one of the assistant solicitors actually heard a threat. There were threats made to him in the parking lot while he was coming to and from the courthouse.

G. Tr. p. 27, lines 1-7. Geoly explained, “But my client stood fast and was doing the right thing.” G. Tr. p. 27, lines 17-19.

Geoly advised Judge Russo, “He went into this, Your Honor, with no deal. **He had no deal.**”

G. Tr. p. 27, lines 20-21. Geoly and Gaston informed Judge Russo that Gaston worked at Carolina Pride for the last six months. He was threatened by a co-worker, a friend of Dean’s. G. Tr. p. 28, lines 12-23.

Geoly pleaded to Judge Russo, “And we would hope you would take all of that into account, Judge, and realize that this is somebody that you are very unlikely to see before you again, Judge.”

G. Tr. p. 29, lines 16-19. Geoly made the pragmatic point that “[s]omebody of his level of education and the fact that he then has a criminal record, it’s going to be almost impossible for him to get back

into the workforce. Right now he's got a job. He can provide for his two children. He can help his grandmother and that's what he's been doing, Your Honor, for the last couple of years. I think these charges are from 2012." G. Tr. p. 30, lines 2-8. Geoly implored, "This little stint, you know, three years ago when he was 20 years old was out of character for him." G. Tr. p. 31, lines 4-6.

Unfortunately, Sheek provided some misinformation, as discussed further, when he told Judge Russo, "Likewise, Judge, the understanding with Mr. Geoly was we would certainly convey to the Court if he cooperated in the trials but other than that there were no deals made beforehand." G. Tr. p. 32, lines 13-16. However, during the motion for new trial, discussed further below, Solicitor Stumbo noted Assistant Solicitor Odom was adamant she made no deal with Geoly or Gaston.

Before pronouncing his sentence, Judge Russo advised Gaston:

I'm going to give you a chance. There's a couple reasons. First off, it doesn't appear to me based on what I've heard and know of these matters that you were the lead guy on this. It sounds to me like you got caught up with a couple of fellows that had bad intentions and for whatever reason you decided to go with it.

G. Tr. p. 35, lines 1-8. Judge Russo noted Gaston's kids need him working a job and they do not need him in prison. He advised Gaston if he screwed up, he was going to the penitentiary. He told Gaston to not "screw it up." G. Tr. pp. 36-37 (direct quote, p. 37, lines 12-13). Judge Russo sentenced Gaston to seven years' imprisonment suspended to service of 128 days (time served) and five years of probation with the ability for probation to terminate after two years if restitution was paid. G. Tr. pp. 38-40.

Hearing on motion for new trial: April 13, 2016.

Dean filed a motion for new trial, alleging the State failed to disclose a favorable plea bargain

with Gaston prior to trial. A hearing on this motion was held on April 13, 2016.

At the hearing on Dean's motion for a new trial, Solicitor Stumbo explained:

Judge, just a very simple response is that we maintain that no deals were ever offered to this co-defendant prior to the time that he testified back. Because of all the motions that have been filed and accusations against Ms. Odom that she was essentially lying about that, not being honest and forthright prior to and during the Dean trial. After the Dean trial was over I asked her to just give me the Gaston files. . . . Judge, no offer was made in this case to Mr. Gaston until – I can't tell you the exact date. It was a couple of months before he actually pled in 2015.

Transcript of hearing on motion for new trial (NT Tr.) p. 6, line 20 – p. 7, line 9). Solicitor Stumbo advised Judge Addy the plea bargain reached with Gaston was a straight up plea “to a bunch of burglary seconds.” NT Tr. p. 7, lines 15-23.

Solicitor Stumbo denied Dean's allegation of some covert deal: “All three of us would deny that, Judge. [Assistant Solicitor Elizabeth White] and Ms. Odom have never been dishonest with me before and have always been forthright. I don't expect them to make anything up in that regard to this case. Never at any time did they say they made any kind of offer to Mr. Gaston. He was cooperative from the beginning.” NT Tr. p. 8, lines 1-6. Solicitor Stumbo noted Gaston received the same offer Dean received prior to his trial, reducing the first-degree burglary charge and allowing a straight up plea to second-degree burglary. NT Tr. p. 8, lines 6-11. Solicitor Stumbo confided he was surprised Gaston did not receive prison time. NT Tr. p. 8.

As to Gaston's sentence, Solicitor Stumbo advised Judge Addy, “We in no way suggested that probation was an appropriate sentence. We in no way negotiated that, nor recommended it.” NT Tr. p. 10, lines 8-10.

Judge Addy responded:

And on the first question about a deal for any of the testifying co-defendants, Solicitor, I concur with you. I don't see where the Court has any reason to doubt the representations that have been made by the attorneys for the State. The problem the Court runs into, and, again, I know that we are all dealing with a very significant number of cases. We forget sometimes what is said. We forget sometimes, unless it's written down and put in the clerk's file, we forget what may have been ordered or may have been required of the parties. And I don't believe that you were, – you yourself were present. . . . [A]nd when the Court was informed that . . . Judge Russo, had dealt with the sentencing of Mr. Dean, I even replied back that my recollection was that I had simply requested to try and stay apprised of the situation. . .

NT Tr. p. 10, line 20 – p. 11, line 16.

Judge Addy advised Solicitor Stumbo:

[W]hat this Court is struggling with more than anything else is the integrity of the Court, not so much your integrity, Solicitor. That's not – that's beyond question. But the Court is more concerned about the promises that I had made to Mr. Dean, or the Court had made to Mr. Dean, to retain jurisdiction over the other co-defendants.

NT Tr. p. 12, lines 10-23.

Before Solicitor Stumbo explained the discrepancies, Judge Addy advised Dean's counsel the following:

Clearly the transcripts do reflect that I retained jurisdiction. . . . I firmly – it is being represented to me that the fact that I have retained jurisdiction was not communicated to the Solicitor. I believe the Solicitor when he says he didn't recall it. And that's very easy to believe because I – you know, this was a big case. I knew that we had had this hanging out here for some period of time. And even knowing it was a big case, even knowing that this motion for new trial was hanging out here or a downward departure in sentence was hanging out there, my recollection got cross wired.

NT Tr. p. 15, lines 5-23.

Judge Addy advised the attorneys he felt he needed to take responsibility because he felt it was his job to put something in the clerk's file assuming jurisdiction of the co-defendants' cases. Judge Addy noted he did not anticipate Ms. Odom leaving the Solicitor's Office. Judge Addy advised he was inclined to grant Dean a new trial. NT Tr. p. 16; see also NT Tr. p. 11, line 22 – p. 12, line 3.

Judge Addy further clarified his rationale for granting the new trial to Solicitor Stumbo as follows:

And quite honestly, the Court is basing this motion on the assurances which the Court gave to Mr. Dean as opposed to any assurances which your office may have made to anyone or may not have made to anyone else. . . . Your integrity, I have no reason to doubt it.

NT Tr. p. 8-22.

Dean's counsel noted Sheek's statement to Judge Russo that the State promised to advise the Court about Gaston's cooperation. Likewise, Solicitor Stumbo made a similar characterization in a subsequent e-mail between Judge Addy, Judge Russo, and the parties. NT Tr. p. 13, lines 15-21. In response, Solicitor Stumbo clarified:

In the email I indicated that she, referring to Ms. Odom, stated on the record as an officer of the Court that Mr. Gaston was told his cooperation would be considered and taken into account the charges were dealt with at a later date. After the email was sent, Ms. Odom actually corrected me because she looked at this said I didn't even say that. The reason I put that in the email, Judge, because typically if I had been dealing with this case before and just my practice had always been to relay that to a co-defendant that was going to testify and then I would indicate to the Court the same thing to the defense counsel. She indicated to me that she doesn't even go to that point. She doesn't even tell them they're – I guess there's an assumption

that can be made that their testimony will be taken into consideration. But I just wanted to clarify that was probably in my email to Your Honor. Ms. Odom corrected me and said she didn't even go to that point. She just basically said you can testify and the Court will figure it out later. So I just wanted to correct that. That was not a representation Ms. Odom made. It was a false assumption by when I responded to Mr. Grose's email.

NT Tr. p. 19, lines 2-23.

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred as a matter of law by granting Respondent a new trial when no right of Respondent was violated and the trial court found no discovery violation occurred.

Respondent Dean's motion for new trial was premised upon the allegation of a discovery violation by the State. Judge Addy declined to find a discovery violation, emphasizing his satisfaction with the prosecution's earnest representations. Nonetheless, Judge Addy granted a new trial, not based on any action or inaction by the State, but over concerns he promised to retain jurisdiction over Dean's co-defendant and felt responsible for breaking that promise. However, Dean does not have a legitimate interest in Judge Addy retaining jurisdiction over a co-defendant and was not entitled to a new trial where, in fact, he received a fair one.

"A mistrial should not be granted except in cases of manifest necessity and ought to be granted with the greatest caution for very plain and obvious reasons." State v. Wasson, 299 S.C. 508, 386 S.E.2d 255 (1989). The instant case lacks a manifest necessity that validates the extreme measure of impeaching a jury's verdict.

Dean's motion for new trial was based on his counsel's unflappable belief the State made a secret deal for leniency with Dean's co-defendant, Adrian Gaston. However, the new trial was not granted based on Dean's baseless allegation that the State failed to disclose a plea bargain. Judge Addy clarified, "I don't see where the Court has any reason to doubt the representations that have been made by the attorneys for the State." New Trial Motion (NT) Tr. p. 10, lines 20-24. Judge Addy, expressing his concerns, explained, "[W]hat this Court is struggling with more than anything else is the integrity of the Court, not so much your integrity, Solicitor." NT Tr. p. 12, lines 10-12.

He explained he was “more concerned about the promises that I made to Mr. Dean, to retain jurisdiction over the other co-defendants.” NT Tr. p. 12, lines 13-16.

As shown above, Judge Addy granted Dean a new trial solely because Judge Addy failed to retain jurisdiction over Dean’s co-defendants, not because of a discovery violation. Judge Addy’s desire to adhere to his previous statement to Dean is understandable. However, Dean was not entitled to a new trial because Dean does not have a legitimate stake in the disposition of his co-defendants’ charges or the right for his co-defendants to go before the same judge.

A State’s appeal from the grant of a new trial is reviewable when, as in this case, there is an error of law. The test is set out by the Supreme Court in State v. Smith, 383 S.C. 159, 679 S.E.2d 176 (2009) as follows:

[W]e must resolve whether the State had the right to appeal the trial judge’s order. The State may only appeal a new trial order if, in granting it, the trial judge committed an error of law. . . . When determining whether an error of law exists, and therefore whether the State has the right to an appeal, it is necessary to consider the merits of the case.

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