THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM CHESTER COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

MAR 28 2019

Paul M. Burch, Circuit Court Judge.

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001004

Heather Rousey Piper, Plaintiff,

v.

Kerry Grissinger, William P. Hardee, and Paul E. Lesondak, Defendants,

Of Whom Kerry Grissinger and Paul E. Lesondak are the Appellants,

and Of Whom Heather Rousey Piper is the Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, HEATHER ROUSEY PIPER

Jessica Clancy Crowson, Esq. SC Bar No.: 68626
Christopher L. Boguski, Esq. SC Bar No.: 100546
Rogers Lewis Jackson Mann & Quinn, LLC
1330 Lady Street Suite 400
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 978-2832

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

ARGUMENTS

The Appellants did not properly preserve the issues raised in their Initial Brief for appellate review. Even assuming, *arguendo*, that the Appellants did properly preserve any issues raised in their Initial Brief, which Respondent contends they did not, Piper has shown that she has an easement to the Landlocked Piper Parcel—known as the Gandy Easement—through an easement implied by prior use, a prescriptive easement, or an easement by necessity.

Therefore, this Court should deny Appellants’ request to vacate the trial court’s Order dated May 2, 2016, should not remand this action for further proceeding, and should affirm the trial court’s Order.

Standard of Review

“An easement may arise in three ways: (1) by grant; (2) from necessity; and (3) by prescription.” Kelly v. Snyder, 396 S.C. 564, 572, 722 S.E.2d 813, 817 (Ct. App. 2012). An action to determine the scope or extent of an easement is a question in equity. Tupper v. Dorchester County, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187 (1997). However, “[t]he determination of the **existence** of an easement is a question of fact in a law action and subject to an **any evidence** standard of review when tried by a judge without a jury.” Pittman v. Lowther, 363 S.C. 47, 50, 610 S.E.2d 479, 480 (2005) (emphasis added). The termination of an easement by abandonment is a factual question in an action at law. Eldridge v. City of Greenwood, 331 S.C. 398, 417, 503 S.E.2d 191, 201 (Ct. App. 1998). “In an action at law, on appeal of a case tried without a jury, the findings of fact of the judge

will not be disturbed upon appeal unless found to be without evidence which reasonably supports the judge's findings.” Townes Associates, Ltd. v. City of Greenville, 266 S.C. 81, 86, 221 S.E.2d 773, 775 (1976).

Here, the Appellants appear to dispute the lower Court’s ruling that Piper shall be entitled to an easement along the Gandy Easement. Given that the Parties dispute whether the existence of this particular easement is the most reasonable means of access to the Landlocked Piper Parcel, the appropriate scope of review for the instant proceeding is that of a factual question in an action at law, subject to an any evidence standard. Eldridge, 331 S.C. 398, 503 S.E.2d 191.

i. **The Appellants did not properly preserve the issues raised in their Initial Brief for appellate review.**

As an initial matter, the Appellants did not properly preserve the issues raised in their Initial Brief for appellate review.

“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.” Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998). The record must show that an issue has been properly raised to the lower court. *See* York v. Conway Ford, Inc., 325 S.C. 170, 480 S.E.2d 726 (1997) (an objection made during an off-the record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review). Furthermore, the lower court must rule upon the issue for it to be preserved on review. Tupper, 326 S.C. 318, 487 S.E.2d 187.

In the present case, Appellants present the issues of whether Piper established that she had an easement implied by prior use, a prescriptive easement, or an easement by necessity. Appellants question whether Piper established the necessary elements at trial, and Appellants base their appeal on these allegations. The recitation of these elements is misleading; however, as the basis of Appellants’ appeal is Appellants’ dissatisfaction with the particular easement found to exist by the

trial court. Still, in their Initial Brief, Appellants state that no evidence was presented to show that Piper has an easement by implied prior use or a prescriptive easement. (Appellants Brief, p. 3-4). Appellants then state that the easement granted by the trial court in the Order should not have been granted, stating that alternate routes to the Landlocked Piper Parcel exist, but do not specifically deny that Piper is entitled to an easement by necessity. (Appellants Brief, p. 4-5). At trial, however, counsel for Appellants did not raise these issues to the trial court. As such, these issues were neither raised to nor ruled on by the trial court, resulting in issues that are not properly preserved for appeal or properly before this Court.

Furthermore, the Order makes no ruling as to whether Piper was entitled to an easement implied by prior use, a prescriptive easement, or an easement by necessity. Instead, the Order simply states that the trial court was asked to determine the location of an easement to the Landlocked Piper Parcel and that based upon the filed pleadings, testimony, trial exhibits, and site visit to the applicable properties, the Court found that the means of access referred to as the “Gandy Easement” was the most appropriate means of access. (R. p. 2) The Order makes no reference to the elements of an easement implied by prior use, a prescriptive easement, or an easement by necessity. Counsel for Respondents made no post-trial motions challenging this Order or seeking to clarify that the elements of the stated easements were not met.

Simply put, Appellants are dissatisfied with the trial court Order granting Piper access via the Gandy Easement and have attempted to base this appeal on issues that were never raised to or ruled upon by the trial court. Thus, it is improper for this Court to consider whether Piper has established an easement implied by prior use, a prescriptive easement, or an easement by necessity as these issues have not been raised by Appellant at the trial or ruled on by the trial Court.

As such, and for the reasons stated above, Appellants did not properly preserve the issues raised in their Initial Brief for appellate review and this Court should deny Appellants' appeal. The foregoing notwithstanding, should this Court find the issues raised by Appellants to be properly preserved, in an abundance of caution, we shall address these issues individually as well.

ii. **Respondent has established she is entitled to an easement implied by prior use.**

At trial, Piper established that she is entitled to an easement implied by prior use. In order to establish an easement implied by prior use, the party claiming the easement must establish the following seven⁸ elements: “(1) unity of title; (2) severance of title; [3] the prior use was in existence at the time of unity of title; [4] the prior use was not merely temporary or casual; [5] the prior use was apparent or known to the parties; [6] the prior use was necessary in that there could be no other reasonable mode of enjoying the dominant tenement without the prior use; and [7] the common grantor indicated an intent to continue the prior use after severance of title.” Boyd v. Bellsouth Telephone Telegraph Co., 369 S.C. 410, 417, 633 S.E.2d 136, 139 (2006).

To establish an easement implied by prior use, necessity means “that there could be no other reasonable mode of enjoying the dominant tenement without this easement”. Crosland v. Rogers, 32 S.C. 130, 10 S.E. 874, 875 (1890). An easement implied by prior use can be determined from a reasonable inference of what the original landowners intended. 25 Am. Jur. 2d Easements and Licenses § 22. “While the necessity elements for the two types of easements obviously are similar, the need required for an easement by prior use may be less than required for an easement by necessity.” Boyd, 369 S.C. at 421, 633 S.E.2d at 141; see Russakoff v. Scruggs, 241 Va. 135, 400 S.E.2d 529, 533 (1991) (easement implied by prior use “requires a showing of need which, by definition, may be less than that required for establishing an easement by necessity, but must be

⁸ An Easement Implied by Prior Use is shown by seven elements; however, the Boyd court's opinion incorrectly numbered the factors.

something more than simple convenience”). “An easement implied by prior use will not be extinguished if the easement is no longer necessary.” Boyd, 369 S.C. at 420, 633 S.E.2d at 141. Easements by prior use are implied by law. Clemson Univ. v. First Provident Corp., 260 S.C. 640, 652, 197 S.E.2d 914, 919 (1973).

In their Initial Brief, Appellants state that Piper did not show that the Gandy Easement (Lesondak Easement) or the Current Easement (Grissinger Easement⁹) were in existence when the title to the tracts was severed or that use of either easement was continuous. In support of this, Appellants cite to only three criteria for the establishment of an easement implied by prior use, which was not the seven-factor test used by the Boyd court, as stated herein. (Appellants’ Brief, p. 3-4). During the trial, however, Piper established all seven necessary elements set forth in Boyd required for the establishment of an easement implied by prior use through the means of access provided by the Gandy Easement. Piper testified regarding the (1) unity of title owned by Andrew J. Taylor; (2) the subsequent conveyances by Andrew J. Taylor severing unity of title and rendering the Landlocked Piper Parcel and the Grissinger Parcel landlocked¹⁰; (3) that prior owners of the Landlocked Piper Parcel, the Millers and Ms. Gandy, both used the Gandy Easement to access the home originally located on the Landlocked Piper Parcel; (4) the prior use was not merely temporary or casual in that it was the only way used by prior owners and renters to access the Landlocked Piper Parcel from the 1960s until present; (5) the prior use was known and apparent to the parties (specifically, Piper’s parents and Mr. William Severance Lee were aware of historical use by Ms. Miller and Ms. Gandy, and Grissinger and Lesondak are aware of Piper’s current use); (6) that the Landlocked Piper Parcel is not accessible by other methods other than the Gandy

⁹ Appellants use this term for the easement referred to as the “Current Easement” in the trial court’s Order.

¹⁰ The Appellants state that the “evidence in this matter makes clear the former unity of title of the tracts in question, and their severance.” Appellants’ Brief, p. 5.

Easement (or the Current Easement); and (7) that the common grantor, Andrew J. Taylor, intended that the grantees continue to access the Landlocked Piper Parcel through the Gandy Easement, as indicated in the language of the instruments presented at trial. Boyd, 369 S.C. at 417, 633 S.E.2d at 139.

Here, there can be no dispute that the record contains the required elements to find Piper has established an easement implied by prior use via the Gandy Easement. As such, this Court should uphold the ruling of the trial court, establishing that Piper has access as provided by the Gandy Easement.

iii. **Respondent has established she is entitled to a prescriptive easement.**

Additionally, Piper established that she is entitled to a prescriptive easement. In order to show that she has a prescriptive easement, Piper demonstrated at trial that the following prerequisites have been met: “(1) the continued and uninterrupted use or enjoyment of the right for a period of 20 years; (2) the identity of the thing enjoyed; and (3) the use must be adverse under claim of right.” County of Darlington v. Perkins, 269 S.C. 572, 576, 239 S.E.2d 69, 70 (1977). “A party may ‘tack’ the period of use of prior owners in order to satisfy the 20-year requirement.” Morrow v. Dyches, 328 S.C. 522, 527, 492 S.E.2d 420, 423 (Ct. App. 1997). “When the claimant has established that the use was open, notorious, continuous, and uninterrupted, the use will be presumed to have been adverse.” Boyd, 369 S.C. at 419, 633 S.E.2d at 141 (citing Poole v. Edwards, 197 S.C. 280, 283, 15 S.E.2d 349, 350 (1941)). A prescriptive easement is established by the conduct of the dominant tenement owner. Id. However, a servient landowner’s overt actions may interrupt the prescriptive period if they cause a discontinuance of the dominant landowner’s use. Pittman, 363 S.C. at 52, 610 S.E.2d at 481.

Subsequent to the entry of the Order granting Piper the access provided by the Gandy Easement, the South Carolina Supreme Court clarified the third element “adverse or under a claim of right.” Simmons v. Berkeley Elec. Coop., Inc., Op. No. 2013-001477 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Nov. 2, 2016) (“the third element of a prescriptive easement should be interpreted as requiring the claimant’s use be adverse or, in other words, under a claim of right contrary to the rights of the true property owner”). With such clarification for the third requirement, the Simmons Court restated the test for a prescriptive easement to be as follows: “the claimant must identify the thing enjoyed, and show his use has been open, notorious, continuous, uninterrupted, and contrary to the true property owner’s rights for a period of twenty years.” Id. Specifically, the Court stated that adverse use and claim of right cannot exist as separate methods of proving the third element of a prescriptive easement as the two terms are, in effect, one and the same.” Id.

In their Brief, Appellants argue that no evidence was presented that would show use of the “Current Easement” prior to Piper’s parents’ purchase of the property in 2012. (Appellants’ Brief, p. 4). While Appellants do not seem to take issue with the establishment of a twenty-year period of use for the Gandy Easement, it was clear at trial that Piper established that both the Gandy Easement and the Current Easement have been used for a period exceeding twenty years. County of Darlington, 269 S.C. at 576, 239 S.E.2d at 70.

As stated above, it appears that Grissinger would have used either the Current Easement or the Gandy Easement to access his house which he has lived in for twenty years, as his parcel is landlocked and there is no other means of access to the Grissinger Parcel. As such, to say that the Current Easement was not used until 2012 is incorrect when the Current Easement has been in use for at least twenty years, or prior to 1996, given that this was the means of access to the house on the Grissinger Parcel and is the current route used by Grissinger himself. In regard to the use of

the Gandy Easement, the testimony above reveals that this was the only means of access to the Landlocked Piper Parcel since the 1960s, and Appellants have not shown or argued otherwise.

Piper has also shown the remaining two elements required to establish a prescriptive easement: the identity of the thing enjoyed, and a use that is adverse to the claim of right. County of Darlington, 269 S.C. at 576, 239 S.E.2d at 70. The identity of the thing enjoyed cannot be disputed in this case as the Parties have recognized and identified that potential means of access exist, as shown by the Gandy Easement and the Current Easement depicted on multiple exhibits presented at trial. Furthermore, the Parties do not dispute that Piper's use has been adverse under claim of right of either Lesondak or Grissinger, as the testimony by all Parties reflects that Piper's passage through either the Gandy Easement or the Current Easement has been contentious. Further, any interruption of either the Gandy Easement or the Current Easement has occurred after the filing of this action. Finally, and under a Simmons analysis, the Parties do not dispute that Piper's use of the Gandy Easement or the Current Easement has been open and notorious.

The record supports Piper's contention that she met the required elements to find that Piper has established a prescriptive easement through either the Gandy Easement or the Current Easement under both the prior test for a prescriptive easement (under Boyd), and the new test (under Simmons). See Simmons, Op. No. 2013-001477. As such, this Court should uphold the ruling of the trial court, establishing that Piper has access as provided by the Gandy Easement.

iv. **Respondent has established she is entitled to an easement by necessity.**

Finally, Piper has established that she is entitled to an easement by necessity. The party asserting the right of an easement by necessity must demonstrate: (1) unity of title, (2) severance of title, and (3) necessity. Boyd, 369 S.C. at 418–19, 633 S.E.2d at 140–41 (citing Kennedy v. Bedenbaugh, 352 S.C. 56, 60, 572 S.E.2d 452, 454 (2002)). The party claiming an easement [by

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